


THIS REPORT MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS CONFIDENTIAL OR 
EXEMPT FROM DISCLOSURE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW. DO NOT RELEASE 
WITHOUT PRIOR COORDINATION WITH THE OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL. 

 
 
 

 
 

OIG CASE NUMBER 20-0014-I 
Forest Hill Community High School 

TYPE OF REPORT: FINAL 
DATE OF REPORT: June 9, 2021 

Teresa Michael, Inspector General 
Office of Inspector General 
School District of Palm Beach County 



June 9, 2021 
OIG Case 20-0014-I 

 

School District of Palm Beach County | Office of Inspector General 2 
 
 

 

Office of Inspector General 
Report of Investigation 20-0014-I 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
From March 20, 2020 to February 12, 2021, the Office of Inspector General (OIG) 
conducted interviews and reviewed pertinent documentation and records related to the 
allegations. As a result of the investigation, the OIG determined that the allegation that 
Substitute Teacher/Head Softball Coach Christina Carvatta violated School Board Policy 
2.16 and Chapters 7 and 19 of the District’s Internal Accounts Manual in that Carvatta 
knowingly failed to follow the District’s fundraising policies and procedures in relation to 
softball concessions fundraisers during 2018/19 and 2019/20 school years was 
Substantiated. During the investigation, the OIG discovered that Carvatta violated the 
above policy and procedures while performing additional softball fundraisers during 
2019/20 school year. This allegation was Substantiated.  
 
On October 28, 2020, the OIG forwarded a copy of the draft report to Christina Carvatta 
for a response by November 25, 2020. Carvatta requested an extension until December 
14, 2020. Carvatta submitted her response on December 14, 2020, the response has 
been attached in its entirety (Exhibit 17). In the response, Carvatta stated that “Although 
I take responsibility for not having a better understanding, I will note that the District’s 
records and the investigation giving rise to the Report (the “Investigation”) have their own 
flaws. Ultimately, although mistakes occurred, those were administrative shortcomings 
and do not in any way reflect on my honesty or integrity, as I have never taken or benefited 
from proceeds of the Softball Team’s fundraising efforts.” 
 
On January 28, 2021, the OIG received an email that states, in part, “I was advice [sic] 
by assistant principal Mr. Loyd to send this to you:” The email included a correspondence 
from Carvatta to Assistant Principal Antonio Loyd and Athletic Director Ronald Kotouch 
in which Carvatta provided them with a summary of what was discussed during a meeting 
between Carvatta, Loyd, and Kotouch on January 22, 2021, (Exhibit 18). Carvatta’s 
summary includes information regarding one of the fundraisers discussed in Allegation 2. 
The OIG conducted additional interviews and a review of pertinent documentation.  Any 
additional information is included in Allegation 2.  
 
On April 01, 2021, the OIG forwarded a copy of the updated draft report to Christina 
Carvatta for a response by April 30, 2021. Carvatta submitted her response on April 30, 
2021, the response has been attached in its entirety (Exhibit 22). The following is the 
OIG’s rebuttal to certain statements in Carvatta’s response: 
 
Carvatta: “Furthermore, while my mistakes were avoidable, I did not “knowingly” fail to 
follow the District’s policies and procedures as the Revised Report claims to have been 
“substantiated.”” 
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OIG: As stated in the report, Carvatta completed the Internal Accounts Fundraising 
Training on August 8, 2019.  The Training explains how to properly complete Fundraising 
Applications and Sales Item Inventory Reports. The Training also states, in part,  
“Maintain full and complete records of all product inventories and cash collections”, 
“Deposit funds daily to the Drop Safe…”, and “Store the product inventory in a secure 
location”. 
 
Carvatta: “The OIG misrepresented to me that it provided a complete production of the 
records I had requested” 
 
OIG: Upon receipt of Carvatta’s initial response dated December 14, 2020, the OIG 
communicated with Carvatta on December 14th and 15th, 2020, to determine what 
additional information Carvatta did not receive or was still in need of. On December 16, 
2020, Carvatta stated, “Thank you for your email. Unfortunately, your request that I give 
you a "list of specific items" that I have not received is not realistic. I asked for the certain 
categories of records, and I have clarified those requests on multiple occasions. But the 
District (not me) knows the full scope of those records. Although it is obvious that I did not 
receive all records that respond to my requests, I am not in a position to know what other 
records are responsive to my requests, as I don't have access to the relevant records in 
the first place. As I said in my response, I don't think that the Investigation and Report 
have been undertaken in a fair manner, and this request to have me guess what was not 
provided underscores my concern.”   
 
All of the records used to conduct this investigation are public records. The records are 
part of the school’s records and maintained by the school, not the OIG. A public records 
request can be completed at any time for any records, whether used or not used during 
the investigation.  
 
Carvatta: “I also was distrusting of Ms. Vallecillo’s indications that I could provide the text 
images without repercussions, as she advised me on October 6, 2020 as we went to the 
softball field after our recorded meeting that I had no need to confer with an attorney in 
connection with the Investigation.” 
 
OIG: District employees, whether part of a collective bargaining unit or not, have the right 
to representation. The OIG did not and will not provide advice regarding such matters; it 
is the employee’s right and decision to confer with representation. 
 
Carvatta: “As I stated in my written statement in response to the initial Report, I made 
mistakes in terms of complying with the District’s fundraising rules. But I certainly did not 
take, or benefit from, any fundraising money.” 
 
OIG: The OIG’s report includes two allegations; Allegation 1: It is alleged that Carvatta 
violated School Board Policy 2.16 and Chapters 7 and 19 of the District’s Internal 
Accounts Manual by 1.)  not completing the required Fundraising Application/Recap and 
obtaining approval for the 2018/19 softball concessions fundraiser, 2.) not obtaining 
approval and completing the required fundraising application/recap for the 2019/20 
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softball concessions fundraiser prior to commencement, 3.) not depositing the funds on 
a daily basis, 4.) not maintaining detailed records of inventories and cash collections, and 
5.) not completing the required Sales Item Inventory Report and Allegation 2: Carvatta 
violated School Board Policy 2.16 and Chapters 7 and 19 of the District’s Internal 
Accounts Manual by not depositing the funds on a daily basis, not maintaining detailed 
records of inventories and cash collections, and not accurately completing the required 
Sales Item Inventory Report. The OIG’s report does not allege that Carvatta took or 
benefited from fundraising funds.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
During the course of the investigation, the following management issues were discovered 
and are referred to Principal Esther Rivera, Director of Employee and Labor Relations 
Vicki Evans-Pare and OIG Director of Audit for review and consideration.  
 
  

• Although records reflect that Carvatta completed the required fundraising training, 
the OIG recommends Ms. Rivera require that Carvatta retake the training to help 
ensure all future fundraising and internal account procedures are followed and 
pertinent documents are completed accurately.  

 
• The OIG recommends the findings of this report be referred to Ms. Evans-Pare for 

review of the violation of School District fundraising procedures and action deemed 
appropriate. 
 

• Due to the unaccounted tickets related to sport admissions, the OIG recommends 
the Director of Audit review the issue to ensure it is not a systemic issue.  
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INVESTIGATIVE PREDICATE 
 
On March 16, 2020, the School District of Palm Beach County, Office of Inspector General 
(OIG) received a complaint via the OIG hotline from Forest Hill Community High School 
Assistant Principal John Provenzano regarding alleged misconduct on the part of 
Substitute Teacher/Head Softball Coach Christina Carvatta. Specifically, Assistant 
Principal Provenzano alleged that Carvatta did not complete the required Fundraising 
Application/Recap for the softball concessions fundraiser during 2018/19 and for the 
2019/20 softball concessions fundraiser. The Fundraising Application/Recap was 
completed after the fundraiser commenced. Provenzano also alleged that Carvatta did 
not timely deposit the fundraising funds (Allegation 1). 
 
During the investigation, the OIG developed a second allegation. The second allegation 
was regarding Carvatta not following the District’s fundraising procedures while 
completing other softball related fundraisers during 2019/20 (Allegation 2).  
 
On March 18, 2020, OIG Investigator Veronica Vallecillo was assigned this complaint for 
investigation. 
 
The OIG investigation concluded that Allegation 1 and Allegation 2 were substantiated. 
The investigative findings of the allegations will be discussed in detail later in this report.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Forest Hill Community High School is a public school located at 6901 Parker Avenue, 
West Palm Beach, Florida. Student enrollment is 2,463 serving grades 9-12.  
 
Substitute Teacher/Head Softball Coach Christina Carvatta has been a substitute teacher 
at Forest Hill Community High School for two years0F

1. Teacher/Athletic Director Ronald 
Kotouch has been at Forest Hill Community High School for six years. Treasurer Michelle 
Bauer and Teacher/Assistant Softball Coach Jodi Wolfthal1F

2 have been at Forest Hill 
Community High School for approximately a year and a half. Assistant Principal 
Provenzano has been an Assistant Principal at Forest Hill Community High School for 
approximately eight years. Assistant Principal Antonio Loyd has been an Assistant 
Principal at Forest Hill Community High School for approximately seven months.  
 
The OIG reviewed the FY 2019 Forest Hill Community High School Audit Findings for 
similar issues to the above allegations. The audit did not contain findings specifically 
related to Carvatta or the fundraisers in question. It should be noted there is a finding 
regarding five athletic program accounts with year-end deficits, one of those accounts 
being softball. As of June 30, 2019, the Softball account had a year-end deficit of 
$3,812.76. 
 
                                                           
1 As of January 22, 2021, Carvatta is no longer a Softball Coach at Forest Hill Community High School.  
2 As of February 2021, Wolfthal is no longer employed at Forest Hill Community High School.  
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Since the allegation was also reported to School Resource Officer Hernan Ramos, the 
OIG conferred with Lieutenant Bill Murphy. Since the matter was reported to the OIG and 
it was regarding administrative violations, a police report was not prepared.  
 
ALLEGATION 1 
 
 
It is alleged that Substitute Teacher/Head Softball Coach Christina Carvatta violated 
School Board Policy 2.16 and Chapters 7 and 19 of the District’s Internal Accounts 
Manual by 1.)  not completing the required Fundraising Application/Recap and obtaining 
approval for the 2018/19 softball concessions fundraiser, 2.) not obtaining approval and 
completing the required fundraising application/recap for the 2019/20 softball 
concessions fundraiser prior to commencement, 3.) not depositing the funds on a daily 
basis, 4.) not maintaining detailed records of inventories and cash collections, and 5.) not 
completing the required Sales Item Inventory Report.  
 
School Board Policy 2.16.11 Fundraising Activities Relating to Schools states, “Money 
derived from any school/classroom based fundraising project or activity shall be deposited 
in the school's internal funds…”  
 
District Internal Accounts Manual Chapter 7 - Cash Receipts and Deposit states, “Activity 
sponsors must submit collections to the front office on a daily basis.” 
 
District Internal Accounts Manual Chapter 19 – Fundraising states: 
 

“The proceeds from school fundraising shall be deposited in the school’s internal 
funds and must be disbursed in accordance with district purchasing policies for the 
purposes stated on the Fundraising Application/Recap.” 
 
“Written approval from the Principal and Treasurer is required before the fundraiser 
actually begins.” 

 
“During a fundraiser the sponsor must: “Be responsible for maintaining detailed 
records of inventories and cash collections.” and “Turn in monies daily by completing 
a Monies Collected Report (PBSD 0180).” 
 
“Materials or supplies MAY NOT be purchased from fundraising collections. All sales 
must be turned into the Treasurer intact and all items purchased as part of the 
fundraising activity must be paid by a check from the school’s Internal Accounts.” 
 
“If the fundraiser involves the resale of purchased items, the sponsor must: Count 
the resale items at the beginning and end of the fundraiser and maintain secure 
control over the inventory.” 

 
“Sales Item Inventory Reports are required for all fundraisers even if there was no 
inventory.” 
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COMPLAINANT INTERVIEW 
 
On March 31, 2020, a telephonic interview of Forest Hill Community High School 
Assistant Principal John Provenzano was conducted. The following represents 
actual and paraphrased statements made by “Provenzano” as it relates to 
Allegation 1: 
 
On or about March 11, 2020, Treasurer Michelle Bauer approached Provenzano 
regarding a concern with Carvatta not completing the proper documentation for the 
softball concessions or making timely deposits.  Provenzano said he informed Principal 
Esther Rivera and called Human Resources Manager Jose Fred to report the issue. 
Provenzano stated that Mr. Fred instructed him to report the issue to the school resource 
officer and the OIG. Subsequently, Provenzano reported the issue to Officer Hernan 
Ramos. Provenzano said he did not address the issue with Carvatta but is aware that 
Bauer asked Carvatta to complete the necessary fundraiser paperwork.  
 
Provenzano noted he did not notify Athletic Director Ronald Kotouch about the matter 
because Kotouch was sick the day the issue was brought to his attention.  
 
WITNESS INTERVIEWS 
 
On March 31, 2020, a telephonic interview of Forest Hill Community High School 
Treasurer Michelle Bauer was conducted. The following represents actual and 
paraphrased statements made by “Bauer” as it relates to Allegation 1: 
 
Bauer stated that Assistant Softball Coach Jodi Wolfthal went to her regarding concerns 
with softball funds. Bauer researched and noticed that a fundraising application was not 
submitted for concessions or ticket sales related to softball games.  Bauer notified 
Principal Rivera of the issue and sent Carvatta an email instructing her to complete the 
required documentation. Bauer noted that because Carvatta had a question regarding 
how to complete a certain portion of the form, that led Bauer to look up the previous year’s 
concessions fundraiser. Bauer did not find record of a fundraising application or account 
set up for softball concessions the previous year (2018/19). Bauer stated that Carvatta 
said she turned in the paperwork for the previous year. Bauer said she did not ask 
Carvatta why she had not completed the fundraising application as required, nor did 
Carvatta explain why she did not follow procedure.    
 
Bauer noted that Carvatta told her she had concession funds in her car. 
 
On April 3, 2020, a telephonic interview of Forest Hill Community High School 
Teacher/Assistant Softball Coach Jodi Wolfthal was conducted. The following 
represents actual and paraphrased statements made by “Wolfthal” as it relates to 
Allegation 1: 
 
Wolfthal said she is the assistant coach for the school’s softball team. Wolfthal said that 
Carvatta is the head coach and Andrea Vasquez is the second assistant coach.  
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Wolfthal explained that during a car wash fundraiser for the team, she purchased lunch 
for the students using her personal funds. Days after the car wash, Wolfthal said she 
requested reimbursement from Bauer. Bauer explained to Wolfthal that there were no 
funds available in the account for her to be reimbursed. Based on Wolfthal’s conversation 
with Bauer regarding the matter, Wolfthal spoke to the parent that handles the concession 
funds. The parent informed Wolfthal that sales are always recorded in a book. Wolfthal 
took pictures of the parents' records a few times and sent them to Bauer for comparison 
of the deposits in the account. Wolfthal noted that the deposits that were made did not 
match. Wolfthal stated that Carvatta asks parents to donate items for the concessions, 
and at times parents give Carvatta cash for concessions.  
 
Wolfthal estimated that concession sales raise around $75 per home game. Wolfthal 
explained that home games do not take place at the school, but instead at a nearby park 
(Mary Brandon Park). Wolfthal said that there is an entry fee of $5 per person to attend 
games, but at times people do not pay because the park is very accessible or Carvatta 
does not bring the tickets. Wolfthal noted that usually ticket sales are administered by a 
student volunteer or a player that is injured.  
 
Wolfthal said that since the season started, there have been five home games and on 
average, approximately 20 people attend each game.  
 
Regarding the car wash fundraiser, Wolfthal said she did not know if Carvatta completed 
a fundraising application or if the funds were deposited. Wolfthal said that there have 
been several fundraisers to benefit the team; coupon book sales, candy sales, and 
popcorn sales. Wolfthal noted she does not handle the fundraisers, but did conduct pizza 
sales once. Wolfthal explained she bought pizza and soda to be sold during lunch. 
Wolfthal said she completed the required documentation for the pizza fundraiser.  
 
Wolfthal stated that she has not brought up specific concerns to Carvatta, but has asked 
her questions regarding fundraisers or related matters, and Carvatta talks in circles and 
does not answer the question. 
 
On September 22, 2020, a sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community High 
School Teacher/Athletic Director Ronald Kotouch was conducted at the Office of 
Inspector General in West Palm Beach, FL. The following represents actual and 
paraphrased statements made by “Kotouch” as it relates to Allegation 1: 
 
Kotouch stated that his responsibilities as an Athletic Director include the management 
of the games, scheduling, ensuring student athlete eligibility, and overseeing the coaches 
from a sport perspective. Kotouch noted that he does not oversee the financial aspect of 
the sports.2F

3 
 

                                                           
3 Currently the District does not have a job description for Athletic Directors. The OIG inquired with the District Athletic 
Manager who confirmed Athletic Director’s do not have a job description, but in general the financial aspect such as 
fundraisers is the responsibility of the coach/sponsor and the Principal who approves the fundraisers.  
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Kotouch explained that every Friday, there is an “activities meeting” that takes place 
where a committee reviews and approves fundraisers prior to the fundraising application 
going to the Treasurer and Principal for approval. Kotouch does not recall seeing anything 
related to softball at the activities meetings. Although a fundraising application is 
completed for concessions, it does not go through the activities committee.3F

4 
 
Kotouch stated that in May 2020, Bauer made him aware that there were missing deposits 
from a softball game and that there were issues with the documentation. Kotouch 
explained that he and Bauer called Carvatta to inquire about the missing deposits and 
Carvatta said she had the ticket box, which included the money. Kotouch noted that 
Carvatta should have deposited the funds after the game, but most likely did not know 
what to do since she is relatively new.  
 
Regarding admission ticket sales, Kotouch stated that he obtains tickets from document 
custodian Garnett Davis. Kotouch will get up to four ticket rolls from Ms. Davis for various 
sports and each roll has 1000 tickets. Kotouch uses a Google document that is shared 
with Ms. Davis to track ticket usage. Either Kotouch or one of the Assistant Athletic 
Directors, Ryan Wells or Ryan Nani, will bring a “ticket box” to the games. The box 
includes petty cash and pre-numbered tickets. With regard to the softball games from 
2020, Kotouch said either a student or a parent was in charge of selling admission tickets. 
At the end of the games, the ticket box would be returned to the administrator in charge 
(Athletic Director or Assistants) so that it could be taken back to the school to be 
reconciled and deposited. Kotouch explained that he and the Assistant Athletic Directors 
have access to get in the school building after hours.  
 
Kotouch opined that Carvatta kept the ticket box because she did not know what to do 
with it.  
 
Kotouch stated that on March 6, 2020, the school’s basketball team went to Lakeland, 
Florida for State Finals. Kotouch noted that he, Mr. Nani, and Mr. Wells were at the State 
Finals and therefore the funds collected for the softball games around that time would not 
have been deposited on time. Kotouch explained that the following week (W/O March 9), 
he was out sick, so the reconciliation of the tickets or deposits were not completed and 
subsequently the schools were closed due to the pandemic. Kotouch stated he did not 
reconcile the ticket sales that took place while he was in Lakeland or when he was sick. 
Kotouch noted that Carvatta does not have keys to access the school after hours and 
probably was not able to access the safe to deposit the ticket sales money the days when 
he and the assistants were in Lakeland. 
 
Kotouch explained that at the end of the school year, he returns any leftover ticket rolls 
to Ms. Davis. However, as of the date of the statement, he had not returned the unused 
tickets to Ms. Davis for School Year 2019/20.4F

5 

                                                           
4 The Activities Committee is a committee formed by Forest Hill Community High School, not a requirement of the 
District. In accordance with District policy and procedures, all fundraisers must be approved by the Principal.  
5 The OIG verified with the school’s document custodian who confirmed Mr. Kotouch returned unused tickets on October 
23, 2020. 
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Kotouch stated that he has not had any issues with Carvatta related to missing funds from 
ticket sales and is not concerned with the possibility of her stealing money. Kotouch noted 
that he does not believe Carvatta did anything malicious.  
 
SUBJECT INTERVIEW 
 
On September 11, 2020, a sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community High 
School Substitute Teacher/Head Softball Coach Christina Carvatta was conducted 
at the Office of Inspector General in West Palm Beach, FL. The following represents 
actual and paraphrased statements made by “Carvatta” as it relates to Allegation 
1: 
 
Carvatta stated that there were 13 students on the softball team during the 2020 season 
along with two assistant coaches, Jodi Wolfthal and Andrea Vasquez. Home games are 
at Mary Brandon Park.  
 
Carvatta explained that she puts together fundraisers that will be fun and rewarding for 
the softball players. She completes the applicable fundraising forms prior to the start of 
the season.  
 
Regarding the concessions fundraiser, Carvatta explained that the parents run the 
concessions at the home games, including set up and collection of funds. Carvatta said 
the team maintains softball equipment and concessions inventory in a small building at 
the park that she has keys to.  
 
Carvatta explained she has team meetings to discuss who will handle the concessions 
and what items are needed so that parents can donate them. Carvatta said she purchased 
items for the concessions one time where she used her personal funds and she did not 
request reimbursement from the District. When asked if she maintains records of the 
donated items or what is sold, Carvatta stated that she does not keep track, but 
sometimes parents bring receipts of what was purchased for resale.5F

6 
 
Carvatta said at the end of the games, the parent running the concession gives her the 
money and if the school is open, she will drop off the money, otherwise she makes the 
deposit the following morning. When asked how she completes the Sales Item Inventory 
Report at the end of the season if she is not maintaining records, Carvatta stated that she 
does not list specific line items on the form because there are too many items and instead 
writes “donation items”.6F

7 
 
Carvatta stated she does not recall why she completed the fundraising application for the 
concessions after the fact. Carvatta said she used the 2018/19 concessions sales to 

                                                           
6  Carvatta was not able to produce any receipts. 
7   The OIG reviewed the Sales Item Inventory Report. The Report does not reflect that the items were donated. See 
Exhibit 3. It should be noted that the Fundraising Application does note the type of services as “Services or Donated 
Item”. See Exhibit 1. 
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come up with an estimate for 2019/20 concessions. Carvatta confirmed that she 
completed a fundraising application for the 2018/19 concessions. 
 
Carvatta said game admission cost was $5. Carvatta stated that Athletic Director Ron 
Kotouch is in charge of selling admission tickets. Carvatta noted that during the 2018/19 
season, the Athletic Director or his assistant always handled the ticket sales, but during 
the 2019/20 season the process changed and the tickets were given to her to sell. 
Carvatta stated she did not verify the tickets each time they were given to her as required.  
 
Carvatta explained that since one of the players was injured she had that student and the 
student’s boyfriend sell the admission tickets. Carvatta said that at the end of the game 
the student would return the ticket box and then she would verify the number of tickets 
sold against the cash collected, and provided the box to the Athletic Director “every single 
time”.  Carvatta noted there was one game (against Jupiter High School) where tickets 
were not sold because the Athletic Director or his assistant did not bring the ticket box.  
 
Carvatta was asked why there was a delay in depositing the ticket sales money for the 
last two games that took place on March 6 and 13, 2020. Carvatta explained that for the 
March 6 game, she provided the ticket box back to the Athletic Director and she did not 
receive the box again until the March 13 game. Carvatta said that after the March 13 
game, the school was closed so she held on to the ticket box. Carvatta met up with the 
Athletic Director to return the ticket box in April 2020.  Subsequently, Carvatta stated the 
reason the last two ticket sales deposit forms have her name on it is because the Athletic 
Director told her to make the deposits.  
 
Carvatta stated she took the required internal funds training prior to initiating the 
fundraiser.7F

8 
 
On October 6, 2020, a follow-up sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community 
High School Substitute Teacher/Head Softball Coach Christina Carvatta was 
conducted at the Office of Inspector General in West Palm Beach, FL. The following 
represents actual and paraphrased statements made by “Carvatta” as it relates to 
Allegation 1: 
 
Although during Carvatta’s initial interview, she stated that parents provided her with 
receipts of whatever food items were purchased as donations, Carvatta was unable to 
provide the OIG with any receipts. Carvatta explained that she did not recall where she 
put them.  
 
Carvatta confirmed she never used the receipts for any type of reimbursement.  
 
Carvatta said that the volunteer parent provided her the concessions money after every 
game.   
 
                                                           
8 PeopleSoft Training records reflect that on August 8, 2019, Carvatta completed “Internal Accounts: Fundraising for 
Teacher/Sponsors (FY20)” training.  
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Carvatta was asked several times if she kept money from any of the fundraisers or if she 
used the funds to pay for something else. Carvatta repeatedly said she did not take any 
money and that she made the concessions deposits after every game. Carvatta noted 
that there was always “petty cash” saved in order to have change at the start of 
concessions, but at the end of the season she deposited all the money into the account. 
Carvatta reiterated that she is “being truly honest” and did not use or take any money. 
 

RECORDS ANALYSIS 
 
Exhibit 1: 2019/20 Softball Concessions Fundraising Application/Recap 
Exhibit 2: District Email from Bauer to Carvatta dated March 3, 2020 
Exhibit 3: 2019/20 Concessions Fundraiser Sales Item Inventory Report 
 
The OIG obtained and reviewed the Fundraising Application/Recap for the 2019/20 
softball concessions (Exhibit 1). The application was approved by the Principal on March 
2, 2020. February 19, 2020, is that date listed on the “Date sales begin” of the application.  
 
A review of the 2019/20 decimalized internal account for the concessions (# 1-5110.07) 
reflects there were four deposits between March 4, 2020, and April 1, 2020. The Monies 
Collected Report (MCR) for each deposit does not specify which home game the 
concessions deposits were for. The OIG compared the deposit dates with the home 
softball game schedule to determine if concessions deposits were completed daily as 
required. As demonstrated on Table 1, it appears deposits were not made timely except 
for the game that took place on March 11, 2020, since there was a deposit the following 
day, March 12.  
 
Table 1:  Dates of home softball games and concessions deposits during 2019/20  
 

Game 
Dates 

02/19/20 
02/27/20 
03/06/20 
03/11/20 
03/13/20 

 
 

Date of 
Deposit 

Amount 
of Deposit 

03/04/20 $134.50 
03/10/20 $108.00 
03/12/20 $31.00 
04/01/20 $39.00 
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District email records reflect that on March 3, 2020, Bauer sent Carvatta an email 
requesting the fundraising paperwork. Carvatta replied that same day stating, “Ok I have 
money in my bag it’s in my car. After my 5th period, I will come down, fill out the paperwork 
and turn in the money.” (Exhibit 2)  
 
On October 5, 2020, the OIG spoke to the parent volunteer responsible for the 
concessions.  The parent stated that she kept a record of the sales in a notebook that 
was kept at the concessions building at the park. On October 6, 2020, the OIG went with 
Carvatta to the concessions building. The OIG found no evidence of a notebook; 
therefore, unable to reconcile the deposits reflected in the account. Carvatta said she was 
not aware of a notebook.   
 
On May 20, 2020, Carvatta signed the Sales Item Inventory Report to close out the 
fundraiser (Exhibit 3). The report does not include information regarding inventory or 
sales. Additionally, the section of the form that asks “Does ending inventory remain?” was 
left blank/not answered. During the OIG’s visit to the concessions building on October 6, 
2020, food items, cups, plates, and cleaning supplies were observed in cabinets, shelves, 
refrigerator and freezer.  
 
For the 2018/19 softball concessions, the OIG did not find a record of a Fundraising 
Application/Recap, Sales Item Inventory Report, or a decimalized account set up for the 
fundraiser. A review of internal account #6-0575.00 “Boosters-softball” reflects a deposit 
on March 26, 2019, in the amount of $87 with a description of “CONCESSION”. On April 
26, 2019, there was a deposit in the amount of $394 with a description of “BOOSTER”. 
The OIG obtained and reviewed the associated Monies Collected Report for the deposit 
on April 26, 2019. The Monies Collected Report reflected a description of “Concession”. 
   
CONCLUSION 
 
It is alleged that Christina Carvatta violated School Board Policy 2.16 and Chapters 7 and 
19 of the District’s Internal Accounts Manual by 1.) not completing the required 
Fundraising Application/Recap and obtaining approval for the 2018/19 softball 
concessions fundraiser, 2.) not obtaining approval and completing the required 
fundraising application/recap for the 2019/20 softball concessions fundraiser prior to 
commencement, 3.) not depositing the funds on a daily basis, 4.) not maintaining detailed 
records of inventories and cash collections, and 5.) not completing the required Sales 
Item Inventory Report.  
 
School Board Policy 2.16 Fundraising Activities Relating to Schools states “Money 
derived from any school/classroom based fundraising project or activity shall be deposited 
in the school's internal funds…”  
 
District Internal Accounts Manual Chapter 7 - Cash Receipts and Deposit states “Activity 
sponsors must submit collections to the front office on a daily basis.” 
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District Internal Accounts Manual Chapter 19 – Fundraising states: 
 

“The proceeds from school fundraising shall be deposited in the school’s internal 
funds and must be disbursed in accordance with district purchasing policies for the 
purposes stated on the Fundraising Application/Recap.” 
 
“Written approval from the Principal and Treasurer is required before the fundraiser 
actually begins.” 

 
“During a fundraiser the sponsor must: “Be responsible for maintaining detailed 
records of inventories and cash collections.” and “Turn in monies daily by completing 
a Monies Collected Report (PBSD 0180).” 
 
“Materials or supplies MAY NOT be purchased from fundraising collections. All sales 
must be turned into the Treasurer intact and all items purchased as part of the 
fundraising activity must be paid by a check from the school’s Internal Accounts.” 

 
“If the fundraiser involves the resale of purchased items, the sponsor must: Count 
the resale items at the beginning and end of the fundraiser and maintain secure 
control over the inventory.” 

 
“Sales Item Inventory Reports are required for all fundraisers even if there was no 
inventory.” 

 
The above records analysis reflects that the 2019/20 Fundraising Application/Recap was 
completed after the softball season commenced. The review of the internal accounts for 
2018/19 and 2019/20 reflects daily deposits were not completed as required. The OIG 
cannot reconcile the deposits or ensure accuracy since Carvatta, the fundraiser sponsor, 
did not maintain records of inventory or sales, as required.  
 
Carvatta stated during her interviews that she made daily deposits and never used or kept 
any of the funds for any type of reimbursement. However, the parent volunteer said 
Carvatta reimbursed her approximately $30 in cash for purchasing concession items.   
 
Based on the testimony obtained and the records reviewed, the OIG determined that the 
allegation that Forest Hill Community High School Substitute Teacher/Head Softball 
Coach Christina Carvatta did not follow the District internal fundraising procedures, 
despite undergoing training, was Substantiated.  
 
ALLEGATION 2 

 
 
As a result of Allegation 1, the OIG reviewed the other softball fundraisers on record. 
Based on the OIG’s review an additional allegation was discovered. The additional 
allegation is that Christina Carvatta violated School Board Policy 2.16 and Chapters 7 
and 19 of the District’s Internal Accounts Manual by not depositing the funds on a daily 
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basis, not maintaining detailed records of inventories and cash collections, and not 
accurately completing the required Sales Item Inventory Report.  
 
School Board Policy 2.16 Fundraising Activities Relating to Schools states “Money 
derived from any school/classroom based fundraising project or activity shall be deposited 
in the school's internal funds…”  
 
District Internal Accounts Manual Chapter 7 - Cash Receipts and Deposit states “Activity 
sponsors must submit collections to the front office on a daily basis.” 
 
District Internal Accounts Manual Chapter 19 – Fundraising states: 
 

“The proceeds from school fundraising shall be deposited in the school’s internal 
funds and must be disbursed in accordance with district purchasing policies for the 
purposes stated on the Fundraising Application/Recap.” 

 
“During a fundraiser the sponsor must: “Be responsible for maintaining detailed 
records of inventories and cash collections.” and “Turn in monies daily by completing 
a Monies Collected Report (PBSD 0180).” 
 
“Materials or supplies MAY NOT be purchased from fundraising collections. All sales 
must be turned into the Treasurer intact and all items purchased as part of the 
fundraising activity must be paid by a check from the school’s Internal Accounts.” 

 
“If the fundraiser involves the resale of purchased items, the sponsor must: Count 
the resale items at the beginning and end of the fundraiser and maintain secure 
control over the inventory.” 

 
After the completion of this investigation, on January 22, 2021, $400 was 
deposited in relation to the fundraiser reviewed below (Candy Fundraiser). 
Interviews and analysis in relation to this deposit are included in their respective 
section as “Subsequent Interviews” and “Subsequent Analysis – Candy 
Fundraiser”.  
 
SUBJECT INTERVIEW 
 
On September 11, 2020, a sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community High 
School Substitute Teacher/Head Softball Coach Christina Carvatta was conducted 
at the Office of Inspector General in West Palm Beach, FL. The following represents 
actual and paraphrased statements made by “Carvatta” as it relates to Allegation 
2: 
 
Carvatta stated the following regarding the fundraisers: 
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Popcorn Fundraiser: Carvatta stated that 100 popcorn bags were purchased from the 
vendor. Carvatta sold the popcorn bags during her free period and afterschool Monday 
through Friday for approximately two weeks. Carvatta said she sold the bags for $2 each 
at the beginning of the fundraiser. She added that she later did a sale of two bags for 
$3.50. Carvatta stated she initially sold the bags for $5 each, but only made one or two 
sales and subsequently lowered the price. Carvatta said she sold all the popcorn bags, 
kept track of daily sales, and had no inventory left over. When asked why the account 
reflected only one deposit instead of daily deposits, Carvatta stated that she made one 
deposit because she needed the cash to use for change.  
 
Coupon Books Fundraiser: Carvatta stated 60 books were purchased from the vendor. 
Carvatta explained that she gave each student two books to sell at $25 per book. Due to 
Covid-19, the students were not all able to sell the books and had to keep the books until 
Carvatta was able to collect them from the students. Carvatta said she has 15 books 
leftover at her house. When asked why the inventory she claimed to have did not match 
the Sales Item Inventory Report she completed, Carvatta stated she did not remember 
how many books were actually left at the time she completed the form.  
 
Candy Fundraiser: Carvatta stated 48 boxes of candy (containing 50 pieces of candy) 
were purchased from the vendor. Students were given two boxes each to sell.  Carvatta 
noted the fundraiser started a week before Covid-19 shut down the schools; therefore, 
she had a lot of inventory leftover. Carvatta stated the leftover inventory was in her 
classroom. The Sales Item Inventory Report completed by Carvatta for this fundraiser 
reflected six boxes were given away, Carvatta explained that she did not actually give six 
boxes away, it was actually boxes the students had and were later returned to her. 
 
On October 6, 2020, a follow-up sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community 
High School Substitute Teacher/Head Softball Coach Christina Carvatta was 
conducted at the Office of Inspector General in West Palm Beach, FL. The following 
represents actual and paraphrased statements made by “Carvatta” as it relates to 
Allegation 2: 
 
Carvatta was asked if there were any other softball fundraisers that were not discussed. 
Carvatta said she forgot to mention that she also did an online fundraiser through BSN 
Sports. Carvatta explained that BSN Sports sells apparel using an “online store”. A 
percentage of each sale goes towards the softball team. Carvatta noted that she worked 
with the BSN representative for Forest Hill Community High School to set it up and also 
completed a fundraising application. Carvatta said the online store raised approximately 
$788F

9 which can be used to purchase apparel for the team.  
 
Carvatta noted that she purchased sweatshirts for the team “out of her own pocket” from 
Xsports. Carvatta explained that she made the purchase as a token of appreciation. 
Carvatta confirmed she did not make any other purchases. Subsequently, Carvatta was 
asked if she was familiar with Paradise Embroidery. Carvatta said she was not familiar 
and did not recognize the name. When presented with an email from Paradise 
                                                           
9 The OIG verified the amount raised through BSN Sports was $76. 
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Embroidery requesting payment, she remembered that it was an order she placed for 
practice shirts. Carvatta stated she paid for the shirts using her personal funds because 
Bauer told her that the softball account did not have the funds to pay for the shirts.  
 
Subsequent Interviews  
 
WITNESS INTERVIEWS 
 
On January 29, 2021, a sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community High 
School Treasurer Michelle Bauer was conducted at Forest Hill Community High 
School in West Palm Beach, FL. The following represents actual and paraphrased 
statements made by “Bauer” as it relates to Allegation 2: 
 
Bauer stated that on January 21, 2021, Carvatta notified her that she had $400 related to 
a closed-out candy fundraiser from the previous school year (2019/20), that needed to be 
deposited. Bauer advised Carvatta to deposit the funds into the drop box safe, but not to 
include an account number. Bauer explained that since the fundraiser was from the 
previous year and was already closed, she needed to find out where to deposit the funds. 
Bauer said that she notified the Principal’s secretary of Carvatta’s deposit.  
 
Bauer stated that she did not ask Carvatta why she had money from a fundraiser from 
the previous year.  
 
Bauer confirmed that she received a copy of the email that Carvatta sent to Loyd and 
Kotouch regarding the meeting on January 22, 2021. Carvatta’s email states, “The school 
offered no guidelines for exchanging moneys under these conditions, but I had spoken 
with the Treasurer in March who told me to hold on to it until school re-opens, at which 
point I would receive further direction what to do with the funds and candy.”  
 
Regarding Carvatta’s statement, Bauer said that to the best of her knowledge she does 
not recall having a conversation with Carvatta in March 2020, directing her to hold on to 
funds until school re-opens. Bauer searched her email records for any related emails she 
may have sent to Carvatta. Bauer did not find any record.  
 
Bauer added that on May 22, 2020, she sent Carvatta and other sponsors individual 
emails requesting closure of any open fundraisers. Bauer said Carvatta went to the school 
on May 22, 2020, to deposit funds she had collected ($200) and to close out the 
fundraisers. Bauer confirmed that when Carvatta went to the school in May 2020, 
Carvatta did not disclose she had any additional funds in her possession. 
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On January 29, 2021, a sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community High 
School Assistant Principal Antonio Loyd was conducted at Forest Hill Community 
High School in West Palm Beach, FL. The following represents actual and 
paraphrased statements made by “Loyd” as it relates to Allegation 2: 
 
Loyd said part of his responsibilities include the Athletics Department. As a result, 
Principal Esther Rivera reached out to him and Athletic Director Ronald Kotouch to 
discuss concerns over Carvatta depositing $400 in the drop safe box “out of nowhere”. 
Since Carvatta had previous incidents with fundraiser discrepancies, Rivera requested 
that Carvatta be removed from her softball coaching duties. Loyd stated he did not see 
the funds that Carvatta dropped in the drop safe box.  
 
Loyd stated that after the meeting with Principal Rivera, he requested the fundraising 
information from Treasurer Bauer. Bauer provided him with the fundraising application 
and the account ledger. Subsequently, he sent an email to Carvatta, on January 22, 2021, 
requesting to meet in order to discuss the softball team. Loyd said the meeting with 
Carvatta took place in his office around 2:30 PM on January 22, 2021. Loyd noted that 
Kotouch was not present for the beginning of the meeting. While they waited for Kotouch 
to join the meeting, Loyd said he welcomed Carvatta and talked about the importance of 
communication. Once Kotouch joined the meeting, Loyd asked Carvatta about the $400 
deposit. Carvatta said it was from a candy fundraiser that took place last school year. 
Carvatta explained that because of Covid-19, she was unable to drop off the money. Loyd 
asked Carvatta why she did not turn in the money when school initially started, Carvatta 
explained to Loyd that she did not know what to do.  
 
Loyd asked Carvatta if she had any left-over fundraising items. Carvatta told Loyd that 
she had 13 boxes of candy leftover in a classroom closet and additional boxes may still 
be with students. Loyd asked Carvatta for a list of students that either still had candy or 
outstanding balances so that he could assist her in tracking down the students. Loyd 
stated that Carvatta said she did not have a list. Loyd asked her what her process was 
for assigning the students the boxes of candy. Carvatta explained that she used sticky 
notes and therefore did not have documentation that could assist in identifying who or 
how many boxes per student were distributed.  
 
Loyd said that Carvatta asked if she would be able to coach again next year. Loyd 
explained to her that it was important to first focus on getting her the required training so 
that she can handle funds related to fundraisers properly. Loyd stated that Carvatta said, 
“okay”.  Loyd and Kotouch gave Carvatta options on how to notify the softball players. 
Carvatta elected to let the team know she would no longer be coaching.  
 
Loyd said he directed Carvatta to bring any fundraising items and team uniforms to his 
office once she had notified the team.  Loyd said that the following day, Saturday, he 
received an email from Carvatta requesting written confirmation of the meeting. The 
following Monday, Loyd stated that he received a detailed email, from Carvatta, regarding 
the meeting. Loyd said he sent Carvatta’s email to Principal Rivera. Rivera asked him to 
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seek guidance from Human Resources Manager Jose Fred. Loyd said Fred provided him 
with language to respond to Carvatta.  
 
Regarding Carvatta’s email: Loyd explained the reference to “Missing $500” was an 
estimate he and Kotouch came up with based on the fundraising information provided by 
Bauer.  
 
Carvatta’s email states, “In particular, the following matters were discussed”. Loyd noted 
that during the meeting that took place on January 22, 2021, Carvatta did not say anything 
regarding the Treasurer instructing her to hold on to funds.  
 
Loyd confirmed that his understanding after speaking with Carvatta is that, Carvatta had 
the $400 for some time prior to her making the deposit.  
 
As of the day of the interview, January 29, 2021, Carvatta had not followed the directive 
to bring the fundraising items and uniforms to Loyd. Therefore, Loyd was unable to 
confirm the number of candy boxes that Carvatta had in her possession.9F

10 
 
On January 29, 2021, a sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community High 
School Teacher/Athletic Director Ronald Kotouch was conducted at Forest Hill 
Community High School in West Palm Beach, FL. The following represents actual 
and paraphrased statements made by “Kotouch” as it relates to Allegation 2: 
 
Kotouch stated that Treasurer Bauer notified Principal Rivera of a $400 deposit made by 
Carvatta that she claimed was from a fundraiser that was done the previous school year. 
As a result of this issue and previous issues with fundraising, Principal Rivera requested 
that Assistant Principal Loyd and Kotouch remove Carvatta from her coaching duties to 
avoid any further issues with money and fundraisers. Kotouch said that the same day, he 
and Loyd requested the fundraising documentation to determine what money or product 
was potentially missing. Subsequently, around 2:30 PM on January 22, 2021, Loyd and 
Kotouch met with Carvatta. Kotouch said that Loyd led the meeting. Kotouch stated that 
Loyd explained to Carvatta that she would no longer coach the softball team. Loyd asked 
why Carvatta held on to the funds for so long. Carvatta said that she had been collecting 
funds and held on to the money because she did not know what to do with the funds 
during the pandemic.  
 
Regarding the email Carvatta sent after the meeting, Kotouch stated that during the 
meeting Carvatta did not mention that the Treasurer told her to hold on to the money or 
that she was not given any guidelines. Carvatta did not mention anything regarding the 
OIG investigation as stated in her email. Kotouch stated that Carvatta did not dispute the 
estimate of $500 missing discussed during the meeting. Kotouch noted that Carvatta said 
she was unable to get in touch with of some of the students that still had candy.  
 
                                                           
10 On February 2, 2021, Loyd confirmed Carvatta had 28.5 boxes of candy. The inventory remains the same as what 
the OIG observed on September 14, 2020.  
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Kotouch confirmed that Carvatta did not receive a stipend for coaching this year. Kotouch 
explained that stipends are paid out at the end of the season (May/June).  
 
On February 12, 2021, a sworn recorded interview of Jodi Wolfthal was conducted 
at the Office of Inspector General in West Palm Beach, FL. The following represents 
actual and paraphrased statements made by “Wolfthal” as it relates to Allegation 
2: 
 
Wolfthal confirmed that she is no longer a softball coach at Forest Hill Community High 
School. 
 
The OIG read the portion of Carvatta’s email that referenced Wolfthal as follows: “I also 
confirmed with two of the players that they had delivered their collections ($100 each) to 
former Assistant Coach Wolfthal. According to my records, Assistant Coach Wolfthal also 
received two boxes of candy, but I have no record of her returning the candy or the $200 
for it.”  
 
Regarding players delivering funds to Wolfthal, Wolfthal stated that she received money 
from various students throughout the year related to the various softball fundraisers. 
Wolfthal does not know which specific students Carvatta is referring to in the email. 
Wolfthal recalls specifically one student giving her $100 because the student’s father 
requested a receipt. Wolfthal said that she provided the student with a receipt. Wolfthal 
said she is fairly sure the funds provided by the student were related to the candy 
fundraiser.  
 
Wolfthal confirmed that whenever she received any fundraising funds, she completed the 
required paperwork and dropped the funds in the safe. Wolfthal noted that when she 
received money at the softball fields, she would go back to the school to drop it off in the 
safe that same day. Wolfthal stated that she did not notify Carvatta when she received 
any funds related to fundraisers. 
 
Regarding the two boxes of candy referenced in Carvatta’s email, Wolfthal says she is 
sure she received one box of candy. Wolfthal confirmed she sold all the candy in the box 
and deposited the funds.  
 
Wolfthal confirmed that Carvatta did not reach out to her or ask her about inventory, 
records, or collections for any softball fundraiser that took place last school year. 
 
SUBJECT INTERVIEW 
 
On February 9, 2021, a sworn recorded interview of Forest Hill Community High 
School Substitute Teacher Christina Carvatta was conducted at Forest Hill 
Community High School in West Palm Beach, FL. The following represents actual 
and paraphrased statements made by “Carvatta” as it relates to Allegation 2: 
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Carvatta explained that she received an email from Assistant Principal Loyd requesting a 
meeting about softball. Carvatta said that on January 22, 2021, she went to Loyd’s office 
and then Athletic Director Kotouch joined the meeting. Carvatta stated that during the 
meeting Loyd brought up a $400 deposit she turned in. Carvatta said the funds she turned 
in were related to a candy fundraiser she sponsored the previous school year (2019/20). 
Carvatta said she was asked why she was turning in the money now if it was for a 
fundraiser from the previous year. Carvatta told them that in the middle of the fundraiser, 
the school was shut down due to Covid-19 and there was no communication as to where 
to turn money into.  
 
Carvatta stated that she was notified she would not be allowed to coach softball this year 
(2020/21). Carvatta added that Loyd told her she needed to complete additional 
fundraising training.  
 
Regarding the funds Carvatta deposited, Carvatta stated that on January 20, 2021, she 
went to Treasurer Bauer to turn in the money she had from the candy fundraiser. Carvatta 
said that she was waiting for communication, did not know the protocol, the school did 
not want anyone collecting cash due to Covid. No one told her what to do with the funds 
and she no longer wanted to have the money in her possession. Carvatta stated that the 
$400 was a mixture of denominations and coins. Carvatta said she received the money 
from four players right before this school year started, in late July or early August 2020. 
Carvatta could not remember the player’s names, but mentioned Jenna, Destiny, and 
Mariel. Carvatta stated she had the information written down, but did not have it with her. 
The OIG requested Carvatta provide the information, Carvatta agreed to provide it.10F

11 
 
Carvatta added that the school was closed when she received the money and therefore 
she was unable to ask anyone about what to do with the money. Carvatta stated that she 
returned to school on August 31, 2020, but did not tell anyone about the funds or turn 
them in because the school limited the movement of staff to avoid exposure.  
 
The OIG asked Carvatta why she did not disclose that she had money from the candy 
fundraiser when she was interviewed by the OIG on September 11, 2020.  
 
Carvatta: “I did mention that”  
OIG: You said you had cash on hand that you had not deposited? 
Carvatta: “That I had cash… I was waiting collecting the cash... I was waiting to get cash 
because the girls were at home” 
OIG: You just said you had $400 from 4 different players 
Carvatta: I did not have it with me on hand.  
 
Carvatta admitted that she did not disclose to the OIG during her interview that she had 
the funds. Carvatta said she was worried and nervous about where the money would end 

                                                           
11 After the OIG sent follow-up emails and a deadline for submission of requested documentation, on February 17, 
2021, Carvatta provided the names of students that allegedly provided her or another coach with funds. The information 
did not include specific dates she received the funds (Exhibit 19). On February 24, 2021, Carvatta provided date ranges 
(Exhibit 20). 
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up because of the problems she had previously with money being deposited into wrong 
accounts.11F

12   
 
The OIG asked Carvatta again where she got the $400 from. Carvatta reiterated she 
received the money from the players during lockdown. The OIG asked why she did not 
bring her notes to the meeting. Carvatta stated that she did not know what would be 
asked.12F

13  
 
In the email Carvatta sent to Loyd and Kotouch, she stated “I communicated with 
Assistant Coach Andrea; she acknowledged that she had collected $100, but that she did 
not currently have the money and was unsure when she would be financially able to 
deliver it.” Regarding Assistant Coach Vasquez, Carvatta stated that she spoke/texted 
with Vasquez on September 11, 2020, and asked her if she had any candy or money. 
Carvatta said that Vasquez told her she lost the box of candy but that she would cover 
the cost and bring it to the school. Carvatta confirmed that to her knowledge, Andrea has 
not turned in the funds.13F

14 
 
The OIG asked Carvatta if she had received the $400 recently or if the money was from 
her personal funds and she was reimbursing the school the funds that were missing from 
the fundraiser. Carvatta maintained that four players gave her the funds and she is not 
trying to cover up anything. 
 
The OIG asked Carvatta why she did not mention the funds in her response to the draft 
investigation report. Carvatta said she thought she mentioned it. Carvatta noted that she 
had a short amount of time to gather all her information.  
 
Carvatta was reminded that she is under oath. Carvatta stated, “I’m sorry, I didn’t mean 
to like say July/August, I just don’t remember” with regard to when she received the funds. 
Carvatta said she does not remember when she collected the money from the players, 
but she wrote it down. 
 
Carvatta said she completed the fundraising training this school year. 
 
RECORDS ANALYSIS 
 
Exhibit 4: Deanan Gourmet Popcorn Invoice 
Exhibit 5: Internal Account Transaction Report for Popcorn Fundraiser 
                                                           
12 Carvatta said that the 2018/19 concession funds were deposited into the wrong account. There is no record of a 
fundraising application or decimalized account for the 2018/19 concessions. However, the OIG determined that two 
deposits for concessions were deposited into a booster softball account. The OIG verified the account number listed 
on the MCR completed by Carvatta. Records indicate the funds were deposited into the account listed on the MCR. 
See Allegation 1 for further information.  
13 When the OIG requested to meet with Carvatta. The email to Carvatta stated, “I am in receipt of your email. Since 
the below pertains to the investigation this office conducted, I would like to set up a time to meet so we can discuss. 
Please let me know your availability this week.”   
14 On February 15, 2021, the OIG spoke to Vasquez via telephone. Vasquez said she was at work and unable to speak. 
Vasquez agreed to call the OIG the following day at 9:30am to speak. As of March 23, 2021, the OIG has not been 
able to get in touch with Vasquez. Vasquez is not a District employee.  
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Exhibit 6: Popcorn Fundraiser Sales Item Inventory Report 
Exhibit 7: Banking Transaction Detail - $100 
Exhibit 8: Save Around Invoice 
Exhibit 9: Internal Account Transaction Report for Coupon Book Fundraiser 
Exhibit 10: Coupon Book Fundraiser Sales Item Inventory Report 
Exhibit 11: OIG observation of Coupon Book Inventory 
Exhibit 12: Old Fashion Candy Company Invoice 
Exhibit 13: Internal Account Transaction Report for Candy Fundraiser 
Exhibit 14: Candy Fundraiser Sales Item Inventory Report 
Exhibit 15: OIG observation of Candy Inventory 
Exhibit 16: Banking Transaction Detail - $270 and $525 
Exhibit 19: 2/17/21 email to OIG from Carvatta 
Exhibit 20: 2/24/21 email to OIG from Carvatta 
Exhibit 21: Text messages between student and Carvatta 
 
The OIG determined that Carvatta conducted the following softball fundraisers during 
2019/20 (See Table 2).  
 
Table 2: 2019/20 Softball Fundraisers  
 

Account # Description Profit/Loss 
1-15110.01 Popcorn 50.00 
1-15110.02 Coupon Books (118.00) 
1-15110.03 Car Wash 126.00 
1-15110.04 Pizza 511.58 
1-15110.06 Candy (1,419.64) 

 
The OIG obtained the Fundraising Application/Recap’s for the above fundraisers. With 
the exception of the Pizza fundraiser (1-15110.04), Carvatta completed the Fundraising 
Application/Recap’s for each fundraiser. As stated by Wolfthal, she completed the pizza 
fundraiser application.  
 
Carvatta also conducted an online fundraiser through BSN Sports. Records reviewed 
indicate Carvatta completed a Fundraising Application/Recap. BSN Sports provides a 
portion of sales conducted through their website which can be used to purchase apparel 
from their website. The funds raised through this online fundraiser totaled $76. 
 
The OIG’s review of the fundraisers discovered discrepancies with the popcorn, coupon 
books, and candy fundraiser, as follows: 
 
Popcorn Fundraiser 
 
Invoice# 200294 dated October 7, 2019, from Deanan Gourmet Popcorn, reflects 
Carvatta purchased 100 bags of popcorn in various flavors (Exhibit 4). Carvatta said that 
she sold the popcorn on a daily basis for two weeks. The Fundraising Application/Recap 
reflects sales dates between October 14, 2019, and November 8, 2019.  However, the 
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decimalized internal account for the fundraiser reflects one deposit was made on October 
21, 2019, totaling $150 (Exhibit 5).  
 
The Sales Item Inventory Report for the popcorn fundraiser completed by Carvatta, dated 
February 10, 2020 (Exhibit 6), reflects 60 bags were sold. Based on this information, 
there should have been 40 bags of remaining inventory. However, Carvatta stated during 
her interview that she did not have popcorn leftover. Additionally, Carvatta did not have 
the sales records she said she maintained. Since Carvatta sold the bags for various 
amounts, the OIG is unable to determine exactly how much the discrepancy is. 
 
On January 6, 2020, Carvatta completed a Check Requisition, requesting reimbursement 
of $100 for the purchase of popcorn bags. The supporting documentation for this  
reimbursement request was the invoice from Deanan Gourmet Popcorn, which reflects 
the amount was paid and there is a zero balance. Carvatta provided transaction details 
from what she says is her personal account reflecting $100 paid to Deanan Products Inc. 
on October 6, 2019 (Exhibit 7). 
 
Coupon Book Fundraiser 
 
An invoice from Save Around dated November 19, 2019, reflects 60 “Save Around 2020 
– coupon books” were purchased totaling $750 (Exhibit 8). The decimalized internal 
account for the fundraiser reflects 10 deposits totaling $632 during October 15, 2019, and 
March 12, 2020 and the purchase of the books from Save Around (Exhibit 9). It should 
be noted that the price each book was sold ($25) is not divisible by the amount of funds 
deposited. 
 
The Sales Item Inventory Report for the coupon book fundraiser completed by Carvatta, 
dated May 20, 2020 (Exhibit 10), reflects an ending inventory of 35 books. During 
Carvatta’s interview she stated she had 15 books at home. The OIG asked Carvatta to 
return the books to the school.  
 
On September 14, 2020, the OIG met with Carvatta at the school to verify the inventory. 
Carvatta escorted the OIG to a room in the Media Center, that was open to staff and 
students. The OIG accounted for 24 books (Exhibit 11), not 35 as listed on the Sales 
Item Inventory Report or 15 based on Carvatta’s statement.  
 
The discrepancy in ending inventory appears to reflect that the amount deposited is 
inaccurate. Based on the OIG’s observation of remaining inventory, if the beginning 
inventory was 60 books and ending inventory is 24, 36 books should have been sold, 
totaling $900, causing a discrepancy of $268 (See Table 3).  
 
 
 
 
 
 



June 9, 2021 
OIG Case 20-0014-I 

 

School District of Palm Beach County | Office of Inspector General 25 
 
 

Table 3: Discrepancy in Deposits for the Coupon Book Fundraiser 
 

Scenario 
# of 

books 
sold 

Sales 
Price Total Sales 

Based on Actual Deposits and 
Sales Item Inventory Report 25.28 $   25.00 $   632.00 

Based on Observed Inventory 
by OIG 36 $   25.00 $   900.00 

Discrepancy  $ (268.00)14F

15  
 
Candy Fundraiser 
 
Invoice # 347897 from Old Fashion Candy Company dated February 26, 2020, totaling 
$2,746.64 (Exhibit 12), reflects Carvatta purchased 48 boxes of candy. It should be noted 
the total amount included freight charges of $346.64.    
 
The decimalized internal account for the fundraiser reflects seven deposits totaling $1,327 
during March 10, 2020, and May 22, 2020 (Exhibit 13).   
 
The Sales Item Inventory Report for the candy fundraiser was completed, but it was not 
signed (Exhibit 14). The report reflects an ending inventory of 18 boxes.  
 
On September 14, 2020, the OIG met with Carvatta at the school to verify the inventory. 
Carvatta escorted the OIG to a locked classroom. The OIG accounted for 28 sealed candy 
boxes and one unsealed box that had 25 pieces of candy (Exhibit 15). Although the Sales 
Item Inventory Report reflects six boxes were given away, during Carvatta’s interview she 
stated those boxes were not actually given away. Therefore, the ending inventory should 
have been 24.  
 
The Sales Item Inventory Report reflects 24 boxes were sold at $1 per item for a total of 
$1,327. If each box contained 50 pieces of candy and it was sold at $1 per item, 26 boxes 
and 27 pieces of one box would have been sold. The OIG confirmed with Carvatta that 
the candy was sold for $2 per item.  
 
The information on the Sales Item Inventory Report completed by Carvatta contains 
inaccuracies regarding the total amount sold, price per item, and remaining inventory.  
 
Based on the OIG’s observation of the remaining inventory, if the beginning inventory was 
48 boxes and ending inventory is 28.5, 19.5 boxes should have been sold, totaling 
$1,950, causing a discrepancy of $623 (See table 4).  

                                                           
15 Carvatta’s response, dated December 14, 2020, to the draft report does not address the $268 discrepancy. Instead, 
Carvatta’s response said that she tried to collect the unsold items from players after the pandemic hit, but it was an 
imperfect process due to matters such as social distancing and quarantining. Carvatta stated that “If I failed to collect 
all outstanding coupon books or candy boxes, that would have been my mistake. I suggest that some consideration 
should be given to the unique circumstances of the times.”   
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Table 4: Discrepancy in Deposits for the Candy Fundraiser 
 

Scenario 

Boxes 
Sold (50 
pcs. per 

box) 

Individual 
Items 
Sold Price 

Ending 
Inventory Total Sales 

Based on Amount 
Deposited  13.27 

        
663.5   $     2.00  34.73  $ 1,327.00  

Based on OIG 
observation 19.5 

           
975   $     2.00  28.5  $ 1,950.00  

Discrepancy 
 $ 
(623.00)15F

16  
 
Subsequent Analysis – Candy Fundraiser 
 
On January 21, 2021, Carvatta turned in $400 to the school. According to Carvatta, the 
$400 were related to the softball candy fundraiser that took place in 2019/20. Since the 
decimalized account for the candy fundraiser was closed at the end of 2019/20, District 
records reflect the $400 were deposited into the Varsity Baseball account (1-0510f78) on 
January 22, 2021.16F

17  
 
Therefore, the discrepancy reflected on Table 4, is now $223.  
 
As stated during Carvatta’s subsequent interview, she received the $400 from students 
and held on to the funds until January 21, 2021. According to the correspondence 
Carvatta sent to the OIG on February 17, 2021, she received $100 from one student in 
late May 2020, $200 from two students ($100 each) in early/mid-June 2020, and $100 
from another student in mid-September 2020.  
 
The OIG reached out to the above students’ parents in order to corroborate Carvatta’s 
statement. The OIG was able to speak to the student that Carvatta said she received 
$100 from in mid-September 2020. The student confirmed to the OIG that Carvatta went 
to her (student) home in June 2020, to pick up $100. The student provided the OIG with 
text messages between her and Carvatta (Exhibit 21). Based on the text messages, it 
appears that Carvatta may have gone to the student’s home on June 5, 2020, to pick up 
the funds not in September as stated by Carvatta.  
 
Carvatta’s statement reflects inconsistencies and contradictions that have made it unclear 
to the OIG as to the origin of the $400. See Table 5 for timeline. 
 
                                                           
16 Carvatta’s response, dated December 14, 2020, to the draft report does not address the $623 discrepancy. Instead, 
Carvatta’s response said that she tried to collect the unsold items from players after the pandemic hit, but it was an 
imperfect process due to matters such as social distancing and quarantining. Carvatta stated that “If I failed to collect 
all outstanding coupon books or candy boxes, that would have been my mistake. I suggest that some consideration 
should be given to the unique circumstances of the times.” 
17 In 2019/20, the softball account closed with a deficit. Some of the deficit was covered by the Varsity Baseball account. 
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Table 5: Timeline 
 
Date Event 

09/11/20 
The OIG interviewed Carvatta about all softball fundraisers. Carvatta did not 
disclose during the interview that she had funds related to any of the 
fundraisers in her possession. 

09/14/20 
The OIG met with Carvatta at the school to verify the inventory for the candy 
and coupon book fundraiser. Carvatta did not disclose that she had funds 
related to any of the fundraisers in her possession. 

10/06/20 
The OIG conducted a follow-up interview with Carvatta. Carvatta did not 
disclose during the interview that she had funds related to any of the 
fundraisers in her possession. 

12/14/20 
Carvatta submitted a response to the OIG’s draft report. The response did 
not disclose that she had funds related to any of the fundraisers in her 
possession.  

01/28/21 Carvatta sent the OIG correspondence.  

02/09/21 
The OIG interviewed Carvatta about the 1/28/21 correspondence. Carvatta 
stated she had information regarding which students gave her the funds, but 
did not have the information with her. 

02/11/21 

The OIG emailed Carvatta requesting her notes regarding which students 
gave her the funds.  
Carvatta responded, “In response to your email today, I am gathering the 
information you requested.” 

02/16/21 The OIG emailed Carvatta to follow up on the documentation that had not 
been received.  

02/17/21 
& 

02/24/21 

Carvatta provided student names, but did not provide exact dates of when 
she received the funds. Carvatta referenced communication via text, 
therefore the OIG requested copies of the text communication.  

03/03/21 
The OIG emailed Carvatta to follow up on the text communication 
documentation. As of 03/24/21, the OIG has not received the documentation 
from Carvatta.   

 
Apparel Purchases 
 
The OIG reviewed Carvatta’s District email records. The records indicate that on March 
5, 2020, Carvatta received an email from paradiseembroid@aol.com requesting status of 
“payment on the t shirts” in the amount of $270. A search of District internal accounts did 
not reflect a payment to Paradise Embroidery in the amount of $270. The OIG contacted 
the vendor who confirmed they received an online payment on March 7, 2020, in the 
amount of $270 from Carvatta. As stated during Carvatta’s interview, she paid for the 
outstanding invoice using her personal funds.  
 
Additionally, Carvatta stated that she purchased sweatshirts for the team. Carvatta 
provided the OIG with images of transaction details from what she says is her personal 
account reflecting payments of $270 and $525 (Exhibit 16). 
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CONCLUSION 
 
As a result of Allegation 1, the OIG reviewed the other softball fundraisers on record. 
Based on the OIG’s review an additional allegation was discovered. The additional 
allegation is that Christina Carvatta violated School Board Policy 2.16 and Chapters 7 
and 19 of the District’s Internal Accounts Manual by not depositing the funds on a daily 
basis, not maintaining detailed records of inventories and cash collections, and not 
accurately completing the required Sales Item Inventory Report.  
  
School Board Policy 2.16 Fundraising Activities Relating to Schools states “Money 
derived from any school/classroom based fundraising project or activity shall be deposited 
in the school's internal funds…”  
 
District Internal Accounts Manual Chapter 7 - Cash Receipts and Deposit states “Activity 
sponsors must submit collections to the front office on a daily basis.” 
 
District Internal Accounts Manual Chapter 19 – Fundraising states the following: 
 

“The proceeds from school fundraising shall be deposited in the school’s internal 
funds and must be disbursed in accordance with district purchasing policies for the 
purposes stated on the Fundraising Application/Recap.” 

 
“During a fundraiser the sponsor must: “Be responsible for maintaining detailed 
records of inventories and cash collections.” and “Turn in monies daily by completing 
a Monies Collected Report (PBSD 0180).” 
 
“Materials or supplies MAY NOT be purchased from fundraising collections. All sales 
must be turned into the Treasurer intact and all items purchased as part of the 
fundraising activity must be paid by a check from the school’s Internal Accounts.” 

 
“If the fundraiser involves the resale of purchased items, the sponsor must: Count 
the resale items at the beginning and end of the fundraiser and maintain secure 
control over the inventory.” 

 
The above records analysis demonstrates that Carvatta did not make daily deposits or 
maintain detailed records of inventory. The information on the Sales Item Inventory 
Reports submitted by Carvatta include discrepancies and inaccuracies that do not 
coincide with the respective deposits. Additionally, the Sales Item Inventory Reports do 
not include the signature of the Principal/Designee verifying the accuracy of the inventory 
for the fundraisers.  
 
Based on the testimony obtained and the records reviewed, the OIG determined that the 
allegation that Forest Hill Community High School Substitute Teacher/Head Softball 
Coach Christina Carvatta did not follow the District internal fundraising procedures was 
Substantiated.  
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  
 
The OIG compared deposits related to softball ticket sales against the softball game 
schedule. The review determined that funds from ticket sales for two home games were 
not deposited timely and one game appeared to have no corresponding deposit. As stated 
during Carvatta’s interview, she held on to the ticket box instead of depositing the funds 
that same day. Additionally, Carvatta did not include the Master Ticket Seller Reports for 
the last two deposits nor did Carvatta maintain record of a reconciliation of the tickets 
sold. Based on Carvatta and Kotouch’s statement, no tickets were sold for the game that 
did not have a corresponding deposit.  
 
As stated during Kotouch’s interview, he had not reconciled the tickets related to the last 
two softball home games that took place or returned the leftover tickets to the Document 
Custodian. On September 24, 2020, Kotouch provided the OIG with ticket inventory 
documentation reflecting there may be approximately 120 tickets unaccounted for. This 
information will be referred to the OIG Director of Audit for review.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The evidentiary standard used by the School District of Palm Beach County OIG in determining 
whether the facts and claims asserted in the complaint were proven or disproven is based upon 
the preponderance of the evidence.  Preponderance of the evidence is contrasted with “beyond 
a reasonable doubt,” which is the more severe test required to convict a criminal and “clear and 
convincing evidence,” a standard describing proof of a matter established to be substantially 
more likely than not to be true.  OIG investigative findings classified as “substantiated” means 
there was sufficient evidence to justify a reasonable conclusion that the actions occurred and 
there was a violation of law, policy, rule, or contract to support the allegation.  Investigative 
findings classified as “unfounded” means sufficient evidence to justify a reasonable conclusion 
that the actions did not occur and there was no violation of law, policy, rule, or contract to 
substantiate the allegation.  Investigative findings classified as “unsubstantiated” means there 
was insufficient evidence to justify a reasonable conclusion that the actions did or did not occur 
and a violation of law, policy, rule, or contract to support the allegation could not be proven or 
disproven. 
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